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PER CURIAM.

Iowa pretrial detainee Nersius Artisani. formerly Roger Hoffert, appeals after

the district court dismissed his pro se 42 U.S.C. § 1983 complaint. Having

jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1291, this court affirms in part, reverses in part. and

remands for furthér proceedings.



Initially. this court affirms the district court’s dismissal of the State of Iowa
as a defendant. See Will v. Mich. Dep’t of State Police, 491 U.S. 58, 66. 71 (1989)
(Eleventh Amendment bars suit against state for alleged deprivation of civil liberties

unless state waived immunity).

As to the remaining defendants, this court affirms the dismissal of Artisani’s
challenge to his segregation restrictions as unconstitutional conditions of
confinement. See Bell v. Wolfish. 441 U.S. 520, 535 (1979) (in evaluating the
constitutionality of conditions or restrictions of pretrial detention, the proper inquiry
is whether they amount to punishment under the Due Process Clause): Karsjens v.
Lourey. 988 F.3d 1047, 1052-53 ( $th Cir. 2021) (regarding pretrial detainees. the
prohibition against punishment encompasses conditions of confinement). Artisani
claimed that in segregation he was denied commissary privileges, some cleaning
supplies. and the right to attend substance abuse classes and religious services. We
conclude, based in part on the grievance responses Artisani submitted. that ‘these
conditions did not amount to punishment. See Beard v. Banks, 548 U.S. 521, 533
(2006) (withholding privileges “is a pmmessar}f management
technique to induce compliance with the rules of inmate behavior. especially for
high-security prisoners who have few other privileges to lose™): Smith v. Copeland.
87 F.3d 265. 268 (8th Cir. 1996) (if particular condition or restriction of pretrial
detention is reasonably related to legitimate governmental objective. it does not.
without more, amount to punishment: government has legitimate interests that stem
from need to manage facility where individual is detained): Stickiey v. Byrd. 703
F.3d 421, 424 (8th Cir. 2013) (citing sanitation-related deprivations that did not
constitute constitutional violations); Kemp v. Black Hawk Cnty. Jail, No. C15-2094,
2017 WL 581316. at 10 (N.D. Iowa Feb. 13, 2017) (because maximum security
policies related to religious observance and access to reading materials furthered
safety and security of jail, plaintiff’'s confinement in maximum security did not

amount to constitutional punishment).

This court also affirms the dismissal of Artisani’s claims that the restriction

on attending classes and religious services violated the Americans with Disabilities
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Act (ADA). and his right to equal protection. See 42 U.S.C. § 12101 (ADA protects
individuals from being discriminated against because of a disability): Nolan v.
Thompson. 521 F.3d 983. 989-90 (8th Cir. 2008) (for equal protectidn/ claim,
plaintiff must prove defendants treated him differently from others similarly
sitnated, without a rational basis); Hosna v. Groose, 80 F.3d 298, 3051.10 (8th Cir.
1996) (finding no equal protection violation when restrictions on administrative
segregation inmates’ access to prison resources, such as classes. were reasonable due

to safety concerns).

As to the dismissal of Artisani’s claim that he was placed in segregation
without due process on several occasions, it is not clear at this stage of the
proceedings whether the placements amounted to punishment. See Bell. 441 U S. at
535; Hall v. Ramsey Cntv., 801 F.3d 912, 919 (8th Cir. 2015) (if plaintiff asserts
defendants unconstitutionally placed him in seclusion as a form of punishment, court
must examine whether the record supports a claim that defendants placed him in
seclusion as “punishment’” and not to serve a “legitimate governmental objective™).

Thus. the court concludes that further proceedings are necessary as to this claim.

The judgment is affirmed as to the dismissal of the State of Iowa as a
defendant, and as to Artisani’s challenges to his conditions of confinement. The
judgement is reversed as to the dismissal of his due process claim. and the case is
remanded for further proceedings in accordance with this opinion. Artisani’s

pending appellate motions are denied.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF IOWA

EASTERN DIVISION
NERSIUS ADONLIEL ARTISANI, No. 23-CV-2045-CJW-MAR

Plaintiff, INITIAL REVIEW ORDER
Vs. |
STATE OF IOWA, et. al.,

Defendants. "_v

ThlS matter is before the Court on plaintiff Nersms Adonhel Artlsanl s pro se “
complalnt filed under Title 42, United States Code, Sectlon 1983 (Doc 1). Plamtlff .'
~-also has filed a pro se motion to appoint counsel, (Doc. 2), a pr_o se ;nonon for recusal,
(Doc: 7), pro se correspondence (Doc. 9), and pro se motionsrto amend his complnint '
and supplements to hié complaint (Docs. 4, 5, 6, 8). 'i?laintiff has submitted the regjniried
 filing fees.?> In his complaint, plaintiff alleges defendants violated his due proceé‘s} énd
Eighth Amendment rights with conditions of confinement and '»pract'it:es at Black “;Héwk -:
County Jail.> For the reasons set forth below, the Court dismisses plamtlff’s complalnt

for fallure to state a cognizable claim. The Court also demes h1s motions for recusal and

to appoint counsel.

! Plaintiff was previously known as Roger Joseph Hoffert, J riv (See Doc 1 at 23- 24)

% Because plaintiff has three qualifying strikes under Title 28, United States Code, Sectlon
1915(g), he could not file a motion to proceed in forma pauperls and was glven 30 days to pay
the full $402 filing fee. (Doc..3). '

* Plaintiff is currently a pretrial detainee‘at the Black Hawk County Jail in*Waterloo, Iowa.
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. MOTION FOR RECUSAL
. Plaintiff requests the assignment of a different judge because the undersigned judge
was assigned to four of plaintiff’s prior cases. (Doc. 7). Plaintiff contends he is not’
?4accusing ényone of “case fixing or intentionally assigning [the undersigned judge] to my
case for nefarious and prejudicial reasons” but he asserts one could view it that way. (/d.
at 1). Thus, he fequests the recusal of the underéighed judge to avoid the appearance of
impropriety. (Id.). |

Recusal is required when the presiding judge’s “impartiality might reasonably be
questioned.” - 28 U.S.C. § 455(a). “A party infroducing a motion to recuse’ carries a
heavy bufden of proof; a judge is presumed to be impartial and the party seeking
| disqualification bears the substantial burden of proving otherwise.” Pope v. Federal
Express Covrp., 974 F.2d 982, 985 (8th Cir. 1992) (citing Ouachita Nat’l Bank. v. Tosco
- Corp., 686 F.2d 1291, 1300 (8th Cir. 1982)). See dlso Nichols v. Alley, 71 F.3d 347,
351 (10th Cir. 1995) (“a judge has as strong a duty to sit when there is no legitimate
reasoﬁ to recﬁsé as he does to recuse when thé law and facts require”). Section 455(a)
imposes an objective réasonabieneés standard based not on whether a Iitigant “might
believe that a biaé exist[s] ” but “whether the ‘averagé person on the street” would question

the impartiality of the judge.” 7d. |
Here, plaintiff has not submitted an afﬁdavit alleging facts which, if true, would
establish that the undersigned judge has personal bias for or against him or the defehdants;'
- Indeed, he affirmatively disavows .assertions of bias. Even if plaintiff had submitted an
afﬁdavit, his allegations fail to rise beyond the level of ‘fcoﬁclusions,. o_pinio_ns, and
rumors,” which are insufficient to demonstrate bias. Davis v. Comfn r, 734 F_.2d 1302,
1303 (8" Cir. 1984). Pléintiff cites no'authority for the proposiﬁon that there is a conflict
of interest simply beéause the undersigned judge also handled previous cases that plaintiff

filed. There are, after all, only two district court judges in the Northern District of Jowa.
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The Court finds no conflict of interest exists, and the Court will not recuse itself.
Plaintiff’s motion is denied. | . |
| Il INITIAL REVIEW STANDARD

Courts must liberally construe a pro se complaint. See Hughes. v, Rowe, 449 U.S.
5,9 (1980); Haines v. Kerner, 404 U.S. 519, 520 (1972) (per curiam); Smith v. St.
Bernards Reg’l Med. Crr., 19 F.3d 1254, 1255 (8th Cir. 1994); see also Stone v. Harry,
364 F.3d 912, 914 (8th Cir. 2004). The Court is obligated to review this case under the
“provisions of Title 28, United States Code, Section 1915A(a). The Court may dismiss é
complaint if it is frivolous, malicious, fails to state a claim upon which relief can be
granted, or seeks monetary relief against a defendant that is immune from a monetary
judgment. 28 U.S.C. § 1915A(b). |

In reviewing a prisoner or in forma pauperis complaint; unless the ifacts alieged
' are clearly baseless, a court rnust weigh them in fa\,vor of the plaintff. See Denton v.
‘ Hernandez, 504 U.S. 25, 32-33 (1992). Pro s»e“ complaints, however, must allege
sufficient facts to support the plaintiff’s claim. Stone', 364 F.3d at 914. A claim is
“frivolous” if it “lacks ain arguable basis in law orin_fact.” Neitzke v. Williams, 490
U.S. 319, 325 (1989); see ailso Carmichael v. Fed. Bureau bf Prisons, 2010 WL
5829239, at *1 (D. Minn. Dec. 20, 2010) (applying’Neiz.‘zke in a Section 1915A initial
review). In deterniining whether a compléint fails to state a claim, courts generally. rely
on the standards articulated in Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). See Hake v.
C’larke, 91 F.3d 1129, .1 132 & n.3 (8th Cir. 1996) (stating initial review for Rule 12(b)(6)
purposes was autliorized for prisoner cases under 28 U.S.C. § 1915A). An action fails
to st;ite a claim upon which relief can be granted if it does not plead “enough facts to -
state a claini to relief that is plausible on its faee.” Bell Atl. Corp_t v. Twombly, 550 U.S.
: 544, 570 (2007). “In evaluating whether a pro se plaintiff has asserted sufficient facts to
state a claim, we hold ‘a pro se complaint, however inartfully pleaded, . . . to less

St_ringent standards than formal pleadings drafted by lawyers.”” Jackson v. Nixon, 747
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F.3d 537, 541 (quotlng Erickson v. Para’us 551 U.S. 89, 94 (2007) (per curiam))
(modrfrcatlons in original).
III. INITIAL REVIEW ANALYSIS
A. Section 1983 Standard
Title 42, United States Code, Section 1983 provides, in relevant part:

Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation,
custom, or usage, of any State or Territory . . . subjects, or causes to be
“subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person within the
jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or
immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party
1nJured In an action at law suit in equity, or other proper proceeding for
redress..

Section 1983 was designed to provide. a “bread remedy for violations of‘ federally
protected civil rights.” Monell v. Dep’t 'of Soc. Servs., 436 U.S. 658, 685 (1978).
However, Title 42, United States Code, Section 1983 provides no substantive rights. See
Albright v. Oliver, 5 10 U.S. 266, 271 (1994); Graham v. Conner, 490 U.S. 386, 393-94 °
(1989); Chapman v. Hquston Welfare Rights Org., 441 U.S. 600, 617 (1979). “One
cannot go into court and claim ‘a ‘violation of [Section] ‘19‘83’.—for [Section] 1983 by -
itself does not protect anyone against anything.” Chapman, 441 U.S. at 617. Rather,
Section 1983 provides a remedy for violations of all “fights_, privileges, or immunities
secured by the Constitution and laws [of the United States].” 42 U.S.C. .§ 1983; see also
Albright, 510 U.S. at 271 (stating that Section 1983 “merely provides a method for

“vindicating federal rights elsewhere conferréd.”); Graham, 490 U.S. at 393-94 (same); |

Maine v. Thiboutot, 448 US 1, 4 (1980) (“Constitution and laws” means Section 1983
provides remeciies for violations of rrghts created b}r federal statute, as well as those
created by the Constitution.). To state a claim urrder Section 1983, a plaintiff must
. establish: (1) the violation of a rrght secured by the Constitution or laws of the United
- States and (2) the alleged deprivation of that right was commltted by a person acting

- under color of state law. See West v. Atkins, 487 U.S. 42 48 (1988)

4
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B.  Initial Review Analysis he
. In his initial corhplaint, plaintiff alleges that defendants Vioblated his due process
~and Eighth Anjendment rights by: (1) .wrongfully placing plaintiff in the maximum
secﬁrity A-Pod between February 23, 2023, and May'29, 2023; (2) refusing to allow
detainees to have privileges such as commissary items when they are housed in the A-
Pod; (3) taking away and placing in storage previously purchased commissary items when
moving an individual from general population to the A-Pod; and (4) refusing to provide
brooms, mops, and toilet brushes to inmates housed in A-Pod. (Doc. 1, at 14-21). -
Plaintiff asserts that inmates and detainees are plaéed in A-2 for disciplinary segregaﬁon
and those with “violent‘pen'ding charges or have been in the Jail in the past and have
displayed disruptivé/violent behavior or have mental healfh issues or disciplinary issues :
are placed in A-1 ovr' A-3 part of the A-Pod.” (I/d. at 14). In aum, plaintiff challenges
thé lack of privileges for those individuals housed in the A-Pod compared with those in
genéral population. Plainti_ff hames as defendants the State of Iowa and employees of the
Black Hawk County Jail, including Captain Néff, Lieutenant-Braun, Sergeant P_aulsen,‘ ’
| ‘and-Sheriff Thompson. (Id. at 2-3, 4). Plaintiff seeks $10,000 in compensatory damages,
'$1,000,000'in punitive damages, $100,000 in other damages, and an injunction. (Id. at
6). | -

. At the outset, the Court notes' that the State of Iowa is an improper defendant.
Section 1983 spccifically provides for a federal cause of a_ction‘ against a “person” who, -
- under éolor of state law, violates another’s federal rights. In Will v. Michigan Dept. of
State Police, the Supreme Court ruled “that a State is not a person within the' meaning of
§A 1983.” 491 US 58, 63 (1989). See also Owens v. Scott Cty. Jail, 328 F.3d 1026, |
1027 (8th Cir. 2003) (stating that “counfy jails are not Alegal entities amenable .to suit”);
Ketchum v. City bf West Memphis, Ark.,\ 974 F.2d 81, 82 (8th Cir. 1992) (stating that
“departments or su_bdivisioné” of local government are not “juridical entities suable as

such™); and De La Garzav. Kandiyohi Cty. Jail, 18 Fed. Appx. 436, 437 (8th Cir. 2001)
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(affirming district court dismissal of county jail and sheriff’s department as parties'
because they wére not suable entities). Thus, the State of Jowa must be dismissed as a
defendant. | _
1.  Motions to Amend and Supplements
In the two mdnths since plaintiff filed his initial -cbmplaint, plaintiff has filed
numerous prd se motions to amend his complaint and supplements to his complaint
totaling over 50 pages in Which he seeks leave to add addlitional defendants and claims.

- (See Docs. 4; 5,6,8,9). First, piaintiff seeks leave to add defendants Sergeant Nai and
Sergeant Stainbrook and claimé that: (1) defendants do not allow inmates housed in
maximum security A-1 and A-3 to atterid Pathways drug and alcohol classes and (2) all
cdmmunicatiOns via CIDNET on kiosks are reviewed and stored, including those with
attorheys. (Doc. 4, at 1; Doc. 4-1, at 1-2). Plaintiff also reasserfs his initial claim .
challengingﬂhis placement in A-Pod and requests an injunctioh to cease his confinement-
in that unit. (Doc. 4-1, at 5-6). | He thén filed a second rhotion t'o‘.amend and requested

~ leave to add Encartele, which he -asserts owns and opérates CIDNET kiosks, and three

unnamed defendants who oversee and administer CIDNET. (Doc. 5 , at 1-2). Plaintiff
also included seven numbered claims in that motion that attempt to tie individilal
defendants to his various claims, specifically by failing to stop thé violation of his rights
after he filed grievances. (Id. at 3-11). Additionally, plaintiff filed a supplement that
mcluded grievanées he has submitted at Black Hawk County Jail. (Doc. 6). In his last

amendmem,. plaintiff seeks to add Black Hawk County, Black Hawk County Sheriff’s
| Office, and Pathways BehaViQral Solutions as defendants and add claims that:

(1) defendants violate the First Amendment with “a policy and practice of not allbwing

detainees to order magazines and they restrict what books detainees can have sent in;”

* Plaintiff has not sought leave to add Lieutenant McDonald as a defendant but includes him in
his factual assertions. - '
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(2) defendants Violate the Fourteenth Amendment, Equal Protection Clause, and the
Americans with Disabilities Act by not allowing maximum security detainees in A-Pod
to attend drug and alcohol classes in the jail librafy; and (3) defendants violate the First
Amendment and the Fourteenth Amendment by having a policy and practice of not
allowing maximum security detainees in A-Pod to attend religious services in the jail
library. (Doc. 8, at 1, 3-4). o
Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a)(2), a party may amend a pléading
prior to trial with leave of court. Allowing amendment of 'pleadings is impfoper if the
motion to amend involves “undue delay, bad faith, repeated failure to cure deficiencies
by amendments previously allowed, undue prejudice to the non-moving party, or futility
of the _afnendment. ” Popoalii v. Corfe’ctional Medical Services, 512 F.3d 488., 497 (8th
Cir. 2009). “The court should freely give leave [to amend] when justice so requires.”
" FED. R. CIv. P. 15(A)(2). “It is well-established that an aménded complaint _supercedes
| an original complaint and renders the original complaint without legal effect.” In re Atlcis
Van Lines, Inc., 209 F.3d 1064, 1067 (8th Cir. 2000). Plaintiffs, including those
proceeding pro se, must comply with the filing requiréments as set out in the Local Rules
for the Northern District of Towa. Local Rule 15 provides: |

A party moving to amend or supplement a pleading pursuant to Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a)(2) must describe in the motion the changes
sought, and must electronically attach to the motion and file under the same
. docket entry the proposed amended or supplemented pleading . . .. An -
amended -or supplemented pleading, whether filed as a matter of course
pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a)(1) or as an electronic
attachment to a motion, must not, except by leave of court, incorporate any
prior pleading by reference, but must reproduce the entire new pleading.
If a motion to amend or supplement a pleading is granted, the Clerk of
Court will detach and docket the proposed pleading.

LR15. | |
Generally, multiple defendants may be joined in one lawsuit only if the claims .

against them: (1) arise “out of the same transaction, occurrence, or series of transactions -

7.
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or occurrences”; and (2) involve “any question of law or fact common to all defendants.”

- FED. R. CIv. P. 20(a)(2); see also FED. R. Clv. P. 21 (providing that a‘ court 'may' sua

lsponte"‘add or drop” an improperly joined party or “sever” any claim); Stephens v.
Does, 777 Fed. App’x 176, 177 (8th Cir. 2019) (affirming dismissal without prejudice
of several. unrelated _elaims). A prisoner cannt)t attempt to defeat the ﬁl’ing fee
requirements of Section 1915 by jbining unrelated and legally distinct e]aims ih one
Jawsuit. See Bailey v. Doe, 434 F. App’x 573, 573 n.1 (8th Cir. 2011) (afﬁrming
severance of a prisoner’s' complaint into three separate actions and obligating him to pay
' three separate filing fees). |

Some claims plaintiff seeks to add fall within the general ambit of conditions of

confinement claims asserting that detainees held in A—Pod are afforded fewer privileges

than those housed in general population. Such claims relate to restrictions on detainees

in A-Pod that do not allow them to attend drug and alcohol classes and religious services

in the library. The Court grants plaintiff’s motion to amend to add those claims. The

Court also will allow plaintiff to add Sergeant Nai and Sergeant Stainbrook as defendants. |

" However, the Court denies plaintiff’s request to add Black Hawk County, Black Hawk

- County Sheriff’s Office, and Pathways Behavioral Solutions as defendants because they

- are not proper defendants 1n a Section 1983 suit and adding them to the case would be

futile. The other claims plaintiff seeks to add, specifically his claims that all messages

in CIDNET are stored and reviewed and that defendants are violating the First .

Amendment by liniiting books and not allowing any detainees to order magazines, are
entirely unrelated and legally distinct from his conditions of confinement claim. (Doc.
4-1, at 2; Doc 5, at 1-2; Doc. 8, at 3).. For that reason, the Court denies leave to add
those elalms If plamtlff wishes to pursue those claims he must bring them in a separate
case. »

In addltlon plamtlff seeks leave to add a claim challengmg the treatment of a

fellow detalnee at Black Hawk County Jail who plaintiff alleges is in sohtary conflnement'
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for a p_fotracted period. Plaintiff also challenges the general policy of long periods of
solitary confinement for mentally ill detainees. (Doc. 8, at 4; Doc. 9). A prisoner does
not héve standing to bring claims on behalf of other prisoners if he does not have standing
to bring the claim on his own behalf. Sabers v. Delano, 100 F.3d 82, 84 (8th Cir. 1996)
“(prisoners cannot bring claims von behalf of other inmates); see also Meis v. Gunter, 906
F.2d 364, 367-68 (8th Cir. 1990); Miner v. Brackney, 719 F.2d 954, 956 (8th Cir. 1983)
(per curiém). Plaintiff does not allege he was placed in solitary confinement.
Accordingly, the Court denies plaintiff’s request to amend his complaint to add a claim
on behalf of other inmates. | |
2. Plaintiff’s Placement in A-Pod

Plaintiff alleges that defendants Violated his due process rights through a-
classification system that placed him in A-Pbd as a pretrial defainee. Plaintiff asserts that
he was immediately placed in A-3, but after review dates and good behavior he was
moved to general pépulat_ion. (Doc. 1, at 16). He states that later, after involvement jn
. fight, he Was placed in A-2 with thirty d%ays of disciplinary time, A-3 for two weeks
after that, and then general population for one day after which he was r¢Mrﬁed to A-1 on
maximum security status. (Id.; Doc. 6, at 7). Defehdant Neff noted in a grievance
response that “your refractive behavior has indicated you are a maximum secufity

inmate” but he would be moved to general population (when we feel it is appropriate

b

(and safe) to do so. . . . “This is not a disciplinary sanction; this is a classification.

(Doc. 6, at 7).

To show a violation of the Fourteenth Amendment’s due grocess clause, a plaintif

first must demonstrate a deprivation of | life, liberty, or proparty. Wilkinson v. Austin, |

. Krotections of the due'.rocess clause{ Id. at 224;(s¥¢
1075, 1079 (8th Cir. 2020) (“Once a liberty intere

what process is due.”). “[T]he Due Process Clause does not protect évery change in the

9
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- 557, 562 (8th Cir. 2016) (holdingprisoner who spent approximately one year n isolation,

limited shower access, social interaction, telephone or exercise was not atyp1ca1 or
significant deprivation under Sandm)

An inmate has neither a protectible property nor ‘liberty interest in his custody
classification. Hartsfield v. Dep’t of Corr., 107 Fed. App’x 695, 696 (8th Cir. 2004)
(per curiam) (“we agree with the district court that [plaintiff] failed to state a due process
| claim, as he has no liberty interest in a particular classification and his segregation did
| not impose an atypical and significant hardship. ”); Madewell v. Roberts, 909 F.2d 1203,
1207 (8th Cir. 1990) (stating iﬁmates havé no protected liberty interest in their
classification). “Prisoner classification is not generally protected by due process. Due
process is ﬁot’implicated by classification systems with fewer privileges.” McGhee v.
'Wac.z’dle, No. 4:18-CV-OO260;RP-CFB, 2018 WL 10229963, at *2 (S_.D. Iowa Sept. 17,
2018) (denying due processv claim about policy that bars priéoner from advancing to a
higher status within 90 days of a major disciplinary report); see also Madole V. Dbméy, .
No. 2:20-CV-02239, 2021 WL 499038, at *6 (W.D. Ark. Feb. 10, 2021) (“Discretionary
decisions made in connection with inmate classification or houSing implicates no liberty
interest.”); Blaif-Bey 1"),‘ Iowa, 732 Fed. App’x 488, 488 (8th Cir. 2018) (per curiam)
(citing Moody v. Daggett, 429 U.S. 78, 88 n.9 (1976)) (stating there is no due process
protection for prisoner classification). An inmatq therefore cannot invoke pr’oce_dural due
process protections within that classification system. See Walling-v. Simmons, No. CIV.
~ A. 94-3398-GTV, 1998 WL 229541, at *3-4 (D. Kan. Apr. 8, 1998), aff’d, 156 F.3d |
1245 (10th Cir. 1998) (“Because plaintiff had no protécted liberty interest in his minirhum' -

custody classification, he was not entitled to any particular process before his

10
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reclassification.”); see also Moody v. Hardy, No. 407CV035-P-D, 2007 WL 1610791,
at *3 (N.D. Mi_ss. June 1, 2007). Plaintiff does not have a'protected interest in his
classification and therefore is not entitled to due propess'protections when assigned to a
particular. category. Accordingly, the Court dismisses plaintiff’s claim for failure to state
a cognizable claim. | |
| 3. Conditions of Confinement |
Plaintiff also challenges several restrictions that Black Hawk County Jail places on -
~ those inmates and detainees housed in the maximum security A-Pod, but not vthose
individuals in general population. Plaintiff argues that “ [p]aramouht to this claim
here . . . [is the] unfair and unconstitutional policy of not allowing ‘ma_ximuni security’ -
inmates on A-1 and A-3 any access whatsoever fo commissary food and béverage items.”
(Doc.‘ 1, at 14). Plaintiff asserts that “[i]lnmates in general pdpulation receive many
privileges that A-1 + A-3 ‘maximum security’ inmates do not.” (Id.).

Plaintiff initially lists the privileges as access to tablets, food and drink items, mofe
freedom outside their cells, and te,levision.. (1d.). Howéver, he later contests various
privileges restricted from A-Pod in additional claims, including cleaning equipment, drug

~and alcohol classes, and religious services. = A pro se litigant “is not excused from
complying with procedural rulés,' including Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8, which |
requires a short and plain statement showing the pleader is entitled to relief, and that each
allégation in the pleading be simple, concise, and direct.” Cody v. Loen, 468 Fed. App’x:
644, 645 (8th Cir. 2012) (unpublish‘edper curiam) (citation omitted). Plaintiff does not
tie l_:hesé allegations about various restrictions to particular defendants. Rather,. he directs
his claims generally against evefy deféndaht. See Tatone v. SunTrust Mortgage, Inc.,
| M 857 F. Supp. 2d 821, 831 (D. Minn. 2012) (A complaint which _lumpsvall defendants »
“i%\pfz(ogether and does not sufficiently allege who did what to whom, fails to state a claim for

relief because it does not provide fair notice of the grounds for the claims made against

w /I a particular defendant.”); Boggs v. Am. Optical Co., No. 4:14-CV-1434-CEJ, 2015 WL
| - 11
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RV sub nom. Kemp v.. Waterloo Police Dep’t, 700 Fed. App’x-558 (8th Cir. 2017) (citation\

300509, at *2 (E.D. Mo. Jan. 22, 20_15) (“A ‘shotgun pleading’ or ‘kitchen sink pleading’
in which a plaintiff asserts every possible cause of éction against a hest of defendants for |
actions over 2 prolonged period . . . but without facts specific enough'thét those

. defendants can resi)o_nd to the allegations does not comport with even thevmost generOUS
reading of Rule 8(a5.”). Plaintiff’s various filings include scattershot comments and

- complaints about a multitude of issues he has with the conditions of his confinement.
However, the Court will not “mine” the complaint to try to make those comments into a
properly plead allegation. Rather, the Court will address those restrictions he most
clearly. challenges.

@ ‘Because plaintiff is a pretrial detainee, his consfitufional claims are analyzed under
the Fourteenth Amendment’s due process clause, rather than the Eig_hth Amendment.
Owens, 328 F.3d at 1027. The Supreme Court has determined that the government may
detaih defendants before trial and “subject [them]' to the restrictions and conditions of [a]

\~ detention facility so_leng—as. those conditions and restrictions do not arhount to
ﬁf punishment, gr-etherwise viotatg the Constitﬁtion.” Bell v. Wblﬁsh, 441 U.S. 520, 536-
37 (1979); s§ Butler v. FletU:ZZ, 465 F.3d 340, 344 (8th Cir. 2006) (“In evaluating the

1 t'onality \f\egg(_iﬁon%r restrictions of pretrial detention . . . the proper inqu

“  level . . . with which the Constitution is not concerned.’}

Jail, No. C15-2094-1RR, 2017 WL 581316, at *8-10 (N. B

a Feb. 13, 2017), aff’

omitted). If it‘is of a constitutional concern then the court considers whether it “amounts
to punishment in the constitutional sense.” Id. There are two ways to establish that
conditions rise to the level of punishment. First, a plaintiff can show that his or her
conditions of cdnfinement were punitive by demons_tfating an express intent to puanh.

Stearns v. Inmate Services Corp., 957 F.3d 902, 907 (8th Cir. 2020). Second, in the

12
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“Punishment that ‘deprive[s]
ife’s necessities’ is unconstitutional.”

“However, not every disability imposed

s to punishment in the constitutional sense.” Smith v.

arg v&}:e& e pretrial detainee’s claim is “ground[ed] in

principlés of gafety'y i Wés F.3d at 344. To that end, the |
Clrcult has held “that deliberate indif Ce 1s the appropriate standard of culpability for

all claims that prison offlclals failed to provide pretrial detainees with adequate food,

- clothing, shelter, medlcal care, and reasonable safety.” Id

at it is unconstitutional not to allow detalnees housed in

the maximum- securlty A-Pod to purchase or possess food and beverage comm1ssary
items.> (Doc. 1, at 17). Plamtlff asserts that, unlike those housed in general populatlon

individuals housed in A-Pod ay only order hygiene items, paper and envelopes, and

- some medical items. (Id.).%e Eighth Cireuit has stated that persons in confinement

have no constifutional right to purchase snacks or giffs from the commissary or similar

See, e.g., Blake v. Moore, 16-CV-2078, 2018 WL 3745826, at *8 ONTD. Ark. Aug. 7,
2018) (“When a prison provides for an inmate’s basic necessities, he has ‘no protected

| property or liberty intérest in commissary privileges.’”) (quoting Scott v. Burl, 2018 WL

> Plaintiff does not argue that he is receiving inadequate food such that his health is suffering.
Rather, he argues that he is entitled to the same privilege of purchasing add1t10nal food and
beverages from the commissary that general populatlon €njoys.

13 a o : /
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11308963, at *6 (E.D. Ark. Feb 2, 2018)); Gibson v. McEvers, 631 F.2d 95, 98 (7th Cir.
1980) (a denial of a prisoner’s commissary ptivileges does not implicate due process);
Partee v. Cain, No. 92 C 4838, 1999 WL 965416, at *9 (N.D. I1l. Sept. 30, 1999) (citing
Campbell v. Miller, 787 F.2d 21’2, 222 (7th Cir. 1986) (finding no Constitutional or
statutory right to commissary privileges)); Mitchell v. City of New York, No. 10 Civ.
4121, 2011 WL 1899718, at *2 (S.D NoY--May13;201)(findingmo o
to access totymsoﬁ/eg’mmmsary) Vega v. Rell, 2011 WL 2471295, at%‘(D

tional right

June 21, 2011y (“Inmates have no constitutional right to purchase items from the prisOn

'ssary.”). Plaintiff has no right to purchase food from the commissary while

Plaintiff also conten t Black Hawk County Jail is not providin

cleaning supplies to those individuals housed i The maximum secnrity A-Pod because
they do not provide brooms, ntops and toilet brnshes for individuals to clean their cells)
(Doc 1, at 20). Plalntlff asserts that the jail only prov1des rags and that 1S ipsu 1 ie
and requires detainees and inmates to get on thelr hands and knees to c An.
attaches a grievance he filed as to the lack of brooms, mops, and toilet me C.
6, at 6). The officer responding to plalntlff’s grlevance first notes that “materials left in
A-Pod specifically have been used as weapons or been the subject of an inmate’s anger
and been destroyed.” (Id.). Another officer noted that “ [W]e_do restrict the use .of certain
items in A pod that could be used as weapons We have had p'revious' issues of inmates
using them in threatening manners.” ([a’ ) Defendant Neff ﬁnally notes that “we used
to have all those supplies more readily avallable in A Pod but they were removed after
being used as weapons. I understand your concerns, and I will work with my staff to

find a solution that is both safe and,Sanitary.” (1d.).

14
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Plaintiff has pled no facts showing how Black Hawk County Jail’s practice of not
providing brooms, mops, and toilet brushes expressed an intent to punish. Nor has he
'allggéd sufficient facts to show that ‘practice was not reasonabiy related ‘to a legitimate
goal or, if it was so felated, whether it is excessive as compared to that legitimate goal.
| Similarly, plaintiff’s claim fails when considered in ihev cohtext’ of deliberate
indifference. Even ihough prisoners have a right to hygienic conditions,. to state a claim,
a plaintiff must allege more than a dirty conditions. See Beaulieu v Ludeman, 690 F.3d
1017, 1'045 (8th Cir. 2012) (applying the deliberate indi'fferenvce standard to detainee
sanitation claims). Pretrial detaineeé “are enﬁtled to reasonably adequate sanitation,
personal hygiene, and laundry privileges, particularly over a. lengthy course of time.”
| Beaulieu, 690 F.3d at 1045 (quoting Howard v. Adkison, 887 F.2d 134, 137 (8th Cir. -
1989)). Courts focus on the conditions and length of plaintiff’.s exposure to these
co_nditions. Smith, 87 F.3d at 268-69 (no constitutional violation when pretrial detainee

was subjeqted to overflowing toilet for four days). A review of this claim under the

_ deliberate indifference standard fails because, 4o prove deliberate indifference; a plamﬁff\\ ,
must allege a serious risk of ha » -Plaintiff’s claim that his floor is dirty and he Mas—+8
geton his hands and knees to clean it with a rag include no such allegations. Sep Coo.

A\ . ya )
"1 305-C\L- HEAT2009-W 8924 at *4 (E-D. Mo—June’3, 2009) (hotding

plaintiff failed to state a claim based on the refusal to give plaintiff in administrative |
. segrégation a ipop or gloves). Accordingly, this claim is denied. _

| Next, plaintiff challenges the practice of not allowing anyone from A-Pod to

participate in the Pathways drug and alcohol classes in the library. (Doc. 4-1, at 1). I‘nl
response to plaintiff’s grievance about this practice, Sergeant Stainbrook responded that

- “[ilnmates in A-pod ére réstriéted in what they are allowed to do, due to security issues.

-We -cénnot/will_ not compfom’ise the safety and security _df this jail to accompany MAX

~inmates to all of these programs.” (Doc. 6, at 4)'. 'Another officer noted that “having

max inmates in programs can cause issues with the inmates and volunteers. Finally, you

15
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‘have to apply to be in the programs.” (Id.)." Plaintiff fails to allege facts demonstrating - \
either an intent to punish or an excessive or atbitrary restriction in barring maximum
security individuals from being transported to the library to attend classes with external :
. ividuals haused in A-pod
10 (upholding -

volunteers. The same is true of the practice g

to go to the 11brary for rehgious serv1ces See Kemp, 2017 WL 58131
constitutionality of policies in maximum Stewity ito comm1ssary food and drink,

religious observance, access to reading materials; “Regarding the other pretr1a1-detent1on
conditions or_restrictions that the plaintiff experM‘whﬂe*eenﬁnedJmmaM.

securit¥cell, all of the enably-retated-t "

Plaintiff’s assertions that the restriction violates the Equal Protection Clause and
the Americans with Disabilities Act are frivolous. (Doc. 8, at 3). The Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101, et seq., protects individuals from being
discriminated against because of a disability. Here, plaintiff does not'. set forth his
disability or allege how any defendant discriminated against him based on that disability.
'“Tio state a claim under the Equal Protection Clause, a § 1983 pl'aintiff must allege that
a state actor intentionally discriminated against the plaintiff because of membership in a
protected class.” Nolan v. Thompson, 521 F.3d 983, 989 (8th Cir. 2008). Plaintiff here
does not identify a protected lclass' ‘of which he is a member. If a plaintiff does not assert
that he is a member of a protected class as in this case, he_tnust prove that he was “treated
differently froin others similarly situated and that there is no rational basis for the-
difference in treatment.” Village of Willowbrook'i). Olech, 528 U.S. 562, 564 (2000).
Plaintlff makes no such factual allegations | _ | |

For all these reasons, plaintiff’s claims fa11 and must be dismissed.

IV.  MOTION TO APPOINT COUNSEL
Plaintiff filed a motion (Doc. 2) to appoint counsel. That motion is denied as

. 1Noot.
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V. . CONCLUSION
- For the reasoné stated: ‘
1.  Plaintiff’s motion to recuse (Doc. 7) is denied;
-2, Plaintiff’s motidns and supplements to amend (Docs. 4, 5, 6, 8, 9) are.
| granted-in-part ahd denied—inspaft as set out above;
3. After an initial review, plaintiff’s complaint is dismissed because it fails to

state a claim upon which relief may be granted;

4. Plaintiff’s motion to appoint counsel (Doc. 2) is denied as moot.

IT IS SO ORDERED this 9th day of August, 2023.

-C.J. Williams
United States District Judge
Northern District of Iowa
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